..

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred by admitting exhibit 94, a summary of 

financial transactions that occurred before and during the 21-month 

charging period of the first degree theft, because it was unduly prejudicial 

under ER 403. 

2. The trial court erred by admitting exhibit 97, the 

complainant's videotaped deposition, because it is evident from the 

complainant's answers that he did not have personal knowledge of the 

things he said. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. The State based its first degree theft charge on 273 

specified transactions that occurred between September 25, 2007 and June 

11, 2009. The trial court nevertheless admitted Exhibit 94, a summary of 

about 5,000 transactions that occurred before and during the charging 

period. The probative value of the voluminous exhibit was substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, 

misleading the jury, and unnecessary presentation of cumulative evidence. 

Did admission of the exhibit violate ER 403? 

2. The parties conducted a videotaped deposition of the then-

95-year-old complainant, whose health was failing. The complainant 
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could not recall many things, and certain answers suggested he was not 

testifying from personal knowledge. Did the trial court's admission of the 

videotape violate ER 602, which prohibits testimony from a witness who 

does not have personal knowledge of the subject matter? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

After answering an advertisement and being interviewed by family 

members, Samantha J. Pierce was hired to care for an elderly couple and 

their large, lakefront Seattle home in the summer of 2005. 7RP 915-18; 

18RP 2444-53. 1 The family patriarch, 89-year-old G. John Doces (Mr. 

Doces), had been a successful businessman and investor and was 

financially well off. 7RP 900-03; 9RP 1184-85; 10RP 1351-52; 15RP 

1990.2 At one time he owned five Seattle-area furniture stores. 9RP 1184. 

The verbatim report of proceedings, but for the January 25, 2013 
sentencing hearing, is sequentially paginated. Pierce has nevertheless 
cited each volume separately, for ease of reference, as follows: 1RP -
10/23112; 2RP 10/24112; 3RP - 10/25112; 4RP - 10/29112; 5RP -
10/30112; 6RP - 1118, 13, 14112; 7RP - 11115112; 8RP - 11 /19112; 9RP-
11120112; 10RP - 11126112; llRP - 11127112; 12RP - 11/28112; 13RP -
11129112; 14RP - 12/3112; 15RP - 12/4113; 16RP - 12/5112; 17RP -
12/6112; 18RP - 12110112; 19RP 12111112; 20RP - 12112112; 21RP -
1125/13. 

2 Pierce refers to G. John Doces as "Mr. Doces." She refers to Mr. Doces' 
son, John, as "Dr. Doces." She refers to Mr. Doces' grandson, John, as 
"grandson." Finally, Mr. Doces' attorney, John T. John, is referred to as 
"Mr. John." 
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He also owned a home in the Palm Springs area of California and wintered 

there. 8RP 1026-27; 14RP 1862-63. 

Mr. Doces was a strong-willed, demanding, opinionated individual 

who liked to make clear he was in charge. 8RP 1066-67; 15RP 1999-

2001, 2013-14, 2024-25; 18RP 2458-59. A long-time friend said Mr. 

Doces "had a way of getting things his way." 14RP 1867-68. Another 

friend recalled, "Someone described him as kind of like the godfather." 

15RP 2027. He was quick to voice his displeasure and was not afraid to 

offend anyone, especially employees. 8RP 1071-72. As well, Mr. Doces 

was frugal when it came to non-essential items. 8RP 994-95, 1091-92. 

He believed saving was the way to prosperity and often said, "There is 

nothing worse than waste." 8RP 995. He bought items when they were on 

sale and disdained credit. 8RP 994-95. 

As he had done professionally, Mr. Doces negotiated the terms of 

Pierce's employment and made the decision to hire her. 8RP 1118; 10RP 

1396. Pierce was to live at the home full time, drive the Doces around, 

receive free room and board, medical and dental care, a car for her use, 

and $1,000 per month. 8RP 1118-21; 18RP 2449-51, 2454-60. 

Mr. Doces had limited mobility and used a walker because of back 

and neck surgeries. 7RP 917-19; 19RP 2580-82. He did not drive. 18RP 
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2456. He also had high blood pressure, a heart disorder, prostate cancer, 

recurring infections, and was blind in one eye. 7RP 917-18, 8RP 1048-51; 

9RP 1187-89; 19RP 2580-82. He took many medications, all of which 

Pierce was charged with managing. 7RP 918; 9RP 1188; 19RP 2583. 

Despite Mr. Doces' controlling nature, his wife, Sophia, 

traditionally managed the family finances. 8RP 993; 9RP 1182-83; 10RP 

1318-23, 1353, 1390-91. Mr. Doces was, however, "aware of everything." 

10RP 1353. 

When Pierce first assumed the job, Sophia was ambulatory. Pierce 

called Sophia a "very gracious lady" with whom she got along well. 18RP 

2458-59. Sophia was in serious but stable medical condition in those 

days. 9RP 1182-83. She had been diagnosed with breast cancer and was 

receiving radiation and chemotherapy. 7RP 917; 9RP 1226; 18RP 2453-

54; 2458. Her health deteriorated in late 2005. 9RP 1191. She had 

surgery for the cancer and became more ill with major heart failure. 9RP 

1191. In 2006, Sophia was in and out of the hospital about 10 times and 

had open heart surgery. 7RP 924-25; 9RP 1191-93; 18RP 2500-02. 

By this time, animosity had developed between Mr. Doces' 

children and Pierce. Family members believed Pierce spent a 

disproportionate amount of time with Mr. Doces to Sophia's detriment. 
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8RP 1009-11; 9RP 1193-94; 10RP 1400, 1403, 1465-66. They expressed 

concern that Pierce was not capable of meeting the many needs of their 

parents. 7RP 925-26; 8RP 1130-34; 9RP 1191-94, 1227-29. Mr. Doces' 

two sons, as well as his grandson, also believed Pierce was not formal 

enough and appeared to have more of a social than a caregiving 

relationship with their parents. 8RP 1015-16; 9RP 1199; lORP 1399, 

1442-43, 1469. They expressed their concerns to Pierce, but nothing 

seemed to change. 9RP 1194, 1203; lORP 1404. 

The family also wondered why Pierce's children, Katie and David, 

were at their father's residence as often as they were. 7RP 929; 8RP 1012-

13; 9RP 1202; 10RP 1419-23, 1427-29, 1476-77. Mr. Doces knew they 

were there, however, and said nothing about it. 11 RP 1501-02. 

Because of the contlict with Mr. Doces' family, Pierce quit 

working for Mr. Doces in May 2006. 7RP 923-24; 18RP 2481-83; 2586. 

But at Mr. Doces' insistence, Pierce returned a couple of months later as 

his personal assistant rather than caregiver. 7RP 923-24; 8RP 1133-34; 

9RP 1232-33; 10RP 1474. Mr. Doces' children and grandson disapproved 

of the rehire. 8RP 1083-87,1136-38; 9RP 1233; 14RP 1876. Mr. Doces 

did not share their concerns. 9RP 1234; 10RP 1467-68, 1479-80. His 

children acknowledged Pierce played an important role in allowing Mr. 
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Doces to realize his ultimate goal of living his remaining days at his home. 

7RP 936; 8RP 1045-46; 9RP 1198-1201, 1230; 10RP 1384. They also 

said Mr. Doces appeared to get along with, trust, and support Pierce. 7RP 

929,935-36; 8RP 1134; 9RP 1197, 1232; 10RP 1500. 

None of Mr. Doces' family members knew the ternlS of the 

agreement or how Pierce was to be compensated. 8RP 1056, 1081-84, 

1138-40; 9RP 1232-33; 10RP 1405-06, 1474. Pierce told Mr. Doces' 

accountant she was reimbursed for actual expenses and given room and 

board. 10RP 1338. The accountant asked Mr. Doces what he was paying 

Pierce. Mr. Doces said he did not know. lORP 1338-39; 1349-50. He 

told the accountant Pierce "is being taken care of." 10RP 1350. 

Mr. Doces' attorney, John T. John, was concerned his client did not 

have a written employment contract that spelled out Pierce's duties and 

benefits. 15RP 2120-21, 2129-30. Mr. Doces did not follow Mr. John's 

recommendation to draft a written document. 15RP 2122. 

Mr. John observed Mr. Doces and Pierce appeared to have a 

"relaxed relationship, where he had trust and confidence in her ability to 

provide for his needs." 15RP 2119. Mr. Doces said his plan was to 

compensate Pierce after he died in one of two ways. The first would be to 

make her an executive secretary of a charitable foundation he discussed 
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forming. 15RP 2009-13, 2116-17, 2123. Alternatively, Mr. Doces would 

assign her his share of a hydroelectric project that generated income 

quarterly. 15RP 2123. Finally, Mr. Doces executed the title of a new 

Cadillac Escalade he had purchased for Pierce's use in Pierce's name. 

15RP 2123-24, 2154. 

Mr. John set up the foundation as a tax-exempt charitable 

organization to establish scholarships for students at the University of 

Washington. 12RP 2102-03. Mr. Doces intended to have family members 

on the board of the foundation, and formation of the board was a 

continuing issue. At one point, his son John Doces ("Dr. John") and 

grandson Johnny ("grandson") were on the list of possible board members. 

Both were later removed from the list by Mr. Doces, but Dr. Doces was 

later put back on. 15RP 2103-04. 

In fall 2006, Sophia's health declined to the point where she had to 

be taken out of her home and eventually moved to a nursing home. 7RP 

930-31; 9RP 1197-98. Pierce regularly drove Mr. Doces to the home so he 

could visit his wife. 7RP 931; 18RP 2504-05. Sophia died February 1, 

2007. 7RP 932; 9RP 1199-1200. This was a painful time for the family; 

Mr. Doces' daughter, Helene Senn, recalled Pierce "helped in various ways 

and was present a lot of the time." 7RP 932-34. 
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In the period that followed, Senn drifted away because of the 

conflict between the family and Pierce. On more than one occasion, Mr. 

Doces told Senn she was not welcome at his home. 7RP 934-35; 8RP 

1133. Neither Senn nor other family members could change their father's 

feelings at the time. 7RP 935. Mr. Doces came to trust Pierce closely. He 

allowed Pierce to care for the house as well as his affairs. 7RP 935-36. 

This included writing checks and paying bills. 7RP 936-37, 941, 943; 9RP 

1203-04. 

In September 2007, Mr. Doces opened a new checking account at 

Bank of America to be used for his expenses and otherwise for his benefit. 

11 RP 1544-46. A bank manager recommended a single-user account in 

Mr. Doces' name that he could transfer money into at any time from 

another existing account. 11 RP 1546-47. Mr. Doces wanted Pierce to 

have access to the new account for his benefit. llRP 1547-48, 1553-54. 

After a discussion between Mr. Doces and Pierce, Mr. Doces 

decided to have the account be joint to include Pierce's name. 11 RP 1548. 

He also ordered a joint credit card for Pierce to use to pay for Mr. Doces' 

expenses. 11 RP 1549-50, 1556. Mr. Doces ignored his accountant's 

advice by making Pierce an authorized check signer. 10RP 1366-67. 
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The bank manager did not know the terms of Pierce's employment. 

11 RP 1552-54. The manager explained she would not have opened the 

account if she believed Mr. Doces did not understand what he was doing. 

11RP 1556. 

As time went on, Mr. Doces' short-term memory declined. 10RP 

1441-42; 15RP 2006. He also had to use a permanent catheter for his non

functioning bladder. 7RP 939; 8RP 1105; 9RP 1207. He did not like the 

catheter and did not want to accept its necessity. Against Dr. Doces' 

medical advice - which came after consultation with a neurologist - Mr. 

Doces had major back surgery in 2008 to help him become more mobile 

and to try to have the catheter removed. 9RP 1206-08. The surgery 

achieved neither goal. 9RP 1208-09. 

In December 2008, as he had often done before, Mr. Doces' 

grandson visited his grandfather at his California winter home. 8RP 996-

1004, 1027, 1027-1030, 1101-03. The grandson said he was 

uncomfortable being there. 8RP 1104. Pierce was "antagonistic" toward 

him during his stay. 8RP 1038. For example, Pierce refused him the use 

of the Escalade that Mr. Doces bought for her to use. When the grandson 

said he wanted to take Mr. Doces to lunch using the Escalade, Pierce 
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intervened and said he had no "legal right" to take Mr. Doces. 8RP 1038-

41. 

The grandson took Mr. Doces to lunch in a car he had rented. 8RP 

1042-43. After lunch, they went to the local branch of the Bank of 

America because the grandson wanted to see Mr. Doces' credit card 

statements. 8RP 1043, 1109-10. The statements, which they reviewed at 

the bank, revealed unusual spending activities. The card had been used at 

stores such as Gene Juarez, Anthropology, Eddie Bauer, and Nordstrom

places the grandson said Mr. Doces would not have visited. 8RP 1044-45. 

When Mr. Doces saw the statements, he was shocked and asked, 

"Who will take care of me?" 8RP 1045-46. The grandson assured Mr. 

Doces that if Pierce were out of the picture he would help so that Mr. 

Doces did not have to move to a nursing home. 8RP 1110. 

The grandson did not confront Pierce about what he had learned. 

8RP 1047, 1110. When he returned to Seattle, he showed the statements 

to his father, Dr. Doces. 9RP 1209-10. He also spoke with Mr. John. 

8RP 1052-53, 1116; 16RP 2133. 

Mr. John was shown the bank statements. 11RP 1210-11, 16RP 

2135. He flew to California and met with Mr. Doces and Pierce. 16RP 

2135. Mr. Doces was sharp and interested in what was going on. He 
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knew Pierce had access to the joint account, reviewed the statements, and 

displayed no concern. 16RP 2137-38. After discussing the matter, Mr. 

John's focus became the conflict between Mr. Doces and his family, not 

use of the joint account. 16RP 2139. Mr. John advised Mr. Doces to 

personally discuss the matter with his family. 16RP 2139-40. 

When Mr. John returned to Seattle, he met separately with Mr. 

Doces' two sons. Neither son expressed concern about what they were 

told. 16RP 2140-42. As a result of the conversations, Mr. John drafted an 

email message for the purpose of encouraging Mr. Doces to personally 

communicate his views to his children. 16RP 2143-44. Mr. John had no 

concerns about Mr. Doces' mental acuity and ability to understand the 

issues at the time. 16RP 2144-45. He saw no need to pursue a guardian 

for his client. 16RP 2145-46. 

In spring 2009, Mr. Doces called Dr. Doces from a California 

hospital. 9RP 1211-12. Dr. Doces had been a part of his father's health 

care for many years. 9RP 1180-81, 1213. He learned his father's catheter 

had become dislodged and caused a "major wound infection." 9RP 1214-

15. Mr. Doces ended up spending about two weeks in the hospital. Pierce 

did not notify Dr. Doces or any other family members about the 

hospitalization. 7RP 947-48, 951, 971; 9RP 1217; 10RP 1454. She did, 
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however, send Mr. John an email message detailing the incident. 7RP 

969-71; 16RP 2146-47; Ex. 33. 

Once out of hospital, Mr. Doces flew back to Seattle in the 

company of Pierce and a registered nurse. 7RP 951; 9RP 1215-16. He 

was thereafter successfully treated as an outpatient. 9RP 1217. According 

to Dr. Doces, his father did not understand the seriousness of his medical 

condition. From that point forward, Mr. Doces spent most of his time in 

bed. 9RP 1218-19. The incident added to Dr. Doces' concern that Pierce 

could not care for his father. 9RP 1219. 

Dr. Doces notified Senn of their father's hospitalization. 7RP 947-

48. Coincidentally, Senn had attended a conference on elder abuse at 

around the same time and said what she learned was "so reminiscent of 

everything that we were going through, I just couldn't believe it." 7RP 

947-48. She called the Seattle police and spoke with Detective Litalien. 

A few days later Senn and her brother, Dean, met with Litalien and 

showed her copies of two months of credit card statements. 6RP 734-35; 

7RP 949-52; 10RP 1455. Litalien suggested they obtain a vulnerable adult 

protective order against Pierce. They did just that on June 11, 2009. 7RP 

952-54; 8RP 1143-44. The order prevented Pierce from having contact 

with Mr. Doces. 7RP 955. 
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Meanwhile, Litalien went to visit Mr. Doces at his home. 6RP 

738. Mr. Doces was in bed at the time. She spoke with him for about 30 

minutes. 6RP 740, 756. Litalien identified herself to Mr. Doces and 

explained why she was there. 6RP 741-42. He seemed to understand, but 

asked her who she was two or three times during the conversation. 6RP 

Litalien asked why he did not pay Pierce for the work she had done for 

him. Mr. Doces said Pierce was "something like the nuns." 6RP 756. 

Litalien reviewed the credit card statements with Mr. Doces. 

According to Litalien, Mr. Doces appeared "shocked, surprised, confused" 

about the contents of the statements. 6RP 742-43. He said, "My god, I 

would never have authorized these charges. I did not know." 6RP 756; 

19RP 2715. Litalien asked about two specific purchases, one to a jewelry 

store and the second to Nordstrom. Mr. Doces responded he did not know 

about the transactions. 19RP 2716. He said he had no idea Pierce charged 

hundreds of dollars to clothing and shoe stores and that if he had, he would 

not have approved the expenditures. 19RP 2717. He said he gave Pierce a 

credit card to use for "whatever we needed, including groceries." 19RP 

2716-17. Mr. Doces told Litalien he asked Pierce to give him the credit 

card statements, but that she had not done so. 19RP 2717. 
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As she was leaving the residence, Litalien encountered Pierce in 

the courtyard. Pierce, who was crying, said she did not understand why 

she was being picked on when she did everything from gardening to taxes 

to paying bills. Litalien asked Pierce if she was being paid or if she had an 

employment contract. Pierce said there was no contract and that Mr. 

Doces pays for what she needs. She said she "had very little needs." 6RP 

758-59. Litalien asked about evidence of excessive shopping, including 

for shoes. Pierce responded that Mr. Doces buys her whatever she wants. 

She said she reviews the credit card statements each month with Mr. 

Doces and Mr. John, who approves the purchases. 6RP 759. 

Mr. John requested and received bank statements from Pierce 

listing check payments, with Pierce's handwritten notation explaining each 

transaction. 16RP 2147-48, 2161-62; Ex. 36. His intent behind the 

notated statements was to mollify Mr. Doces' children. 16RP 2162. He 

did not recall whether he reviewed the documents with Mr. Doces. 16RP 

2148-49. 

After her visit, Litalien contacted Bank of America and received 

credit card statements and copies of checks from one of Mr. Doces' other 

accounts. 6RP 760. She asked bank officials to freeze Mr. Doces' 

account. 6RP 761. After doing that, Litalien contacted the patrol officer 
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assigned to serve the protection order and directed him to arrest Pierce. 

6RP 761. 

Later that day, a Seattle police officer served a copy of the order on 

Pierce at Mr. Doces' residence and arrested her. 8RP 1147-48; 11RP 

1572-75. Found inside Pierce's purse were three checks made out to Mr. 

Doces, six financial access cards in Pierce's name, a Bank of America 

document, handwritten notes, and several checkbooks. 6RP 762-79. The 

handwritten notes included Sophia Doces' and Mr. Doces' Social Security 

numbers, an address, and a "DOB" of "2/5/18." 6RP 771-72. 

Pierce later called Mr. Doces on his cell phone. Dr. Doces, who 

was visiting his father at the time, took the phone and told Pierce she was 

violating the court order and was to have no contact with Mr. Doces. 7RP 

974; 9RP 1219-21. 

Mr. Doces took a standardized mental status examination one week 

after Pierce's arrest. 9RP 1283. The test is not designed to diagnose 

dementia or any other medical condition. 9RP 1289. Mr. Doces scored 20 

of 30. 9RP 1286. The results of the test, as well as Mr. Doces' appropriate 

answers to questions during their conversation, suggested Mr. Doces had 

some memory deficiencies but was able to track questions. 9RP 1287, 

1295-97. 
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With Pierce out of the picture, Dr. Doces became involved with his 

father's estate planning. 9RP 1243-44. He knew Mr. Doces spoke of 

creating a foundation, but did not know details. 9RP 1243. Mr. Doces 

had been advised that estate taxes did not apply to foundations. 10RP 

1368. He also knew he could transfer wealth from the foundation only to 

charities; it was not a vehicle for gifting wealth. 10 RP 1368-69. 

Dr. Doces and his siblings reviewed the foundation paperwork with 

their father. According to Dr. Doces, his father closed the foundation. 

9RP 1244. In August 2009, Mr. Doces executing a power of attorney that 

gave his children power to manage his finances. 9RP 1244-46. 

Senn spent most of the rest of the summer with Mr. Doces. 7RP 

972-73. She found boxes of her father's financial records in Pierce's 

former living space. 7RP 958-59. She made the contents of the boxes 

available to Litalien. 6RP 780-807. 

After lengthy investigation, the State charged Pierce with first 

degree theft occurring between September 25, 2007 and June 11, 2009. It 

also charged Pierce with a violation of the protection order. CP 1-20, 23-

24. Finally, it alleged Pierce knew or should have known Mr. Doces was 

particularly vulnerable and abused her position of trust. CP 23-24. 
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Pierce filed a motion for a bill of particulars, noting the discovery

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