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

c. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 
DISCRETION IN ADMITIING SUMMARIES OF 
BANK RECORDS. 

Pierce argues that the trial court erred in admitting bank 

record summaries of G. John's finances, claiming that the records 

were overwhelming, cumulative, and likely to confuse and mislead 

the jury. Pierce's argument is misplaced. The court found the bank 

records relevant: 1) as res gestae to provide context for the 
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charged transactions; 2) to show Pierce's opportunity, intent, and 

scheme to gain control of G. John's finances; and 3) to rebut 

Pierce's claim of consent. Due to the voluminous nature of the 

bank records, the summaries assisted the jurors in understanding 

the evidence and saved time; the court found that there was no 

danger of unfairly prejudicing Pierce through the use of the 

summaries. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in 

admitting the evidence. 

a. Relevant Facts. 

Pierce was charged with theft in the first degree based on 

273 transactions totaling over $167,000 that occurred from 

September 25, 2007 to June 11, 2009 while Pierce had access to 

G. John's funds through the joint account. CP 23-24. The 273 

transactions consisted of spending that benefited Pierce and her 

friends and family; they included purchases of women's shoes and 

clothing, checks written to Pierce's adult children, and thousands of 

dollars spent while G. John was hospitalized. Ex. 93. 

As a defense to theft, Pierce claimed that G. John consented 

to all of the charged transactions. 18RP 2514-16. Along with 

evidence of the charged transactions, the State offered summaries 
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of G. John's bank and credit card records from 2004 to 2009 that 

were separated into three periods. 12RP 1637-42; Exs. 93, 94. 

After hearing argument from the parties, reviewing legal 

authorities, and reviewing the summaries of bank records, the court 

ruled that the summaries were admissible for multiple purposes. 

4RP 498-509; 5RP 543-48. Specifically, the court found that 

summaries related to the first period did not implicate ER 404(b) 

because they did not involve any acts by Pierce. 5RP 545. 

However, the court found the evidence relevant to show the marked 

difference in spending to counter Pierce's claim of consent. 

5RP 545. The court ruled that summaries for the second period 

were relevant to show that Pierce gained knowledge and oversight 

of G. John's various accounts and learned the necessity of 

establishing a different account that she would have greater access 

to. 5RP 546-47. The court found that summaries of spending for 

the third period were relevant to show that average monthly 

spending had substantially increased, and to show Pierce's 

opportunity to commit the crime through her access to financial 

resources as well as her intent and scheme to do so. 5RP 546-47. 
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In response to Pierce's argument against admission that the 

summaries would not assist the jury in understanding the context of 

the crime, the court noted: 

If I were to adopt your reasoning and exclude all the 
transactions except for those 27[3], would not that be 
giving evidence to the jury in a vacuum, that they 
wouldn't know what other types of things would 
occur? 

5RP 553,555-56. 

Pierce's counsel then objected under ER 403 that the 

evidence's relevance was outweighed by prejudice because the 

use of bank summaries would be cumulative and confusing to the 

jury. 5RP 556-57. In finding that the relevance of the evidence 

outweighed any potential prejudice, the court stated: 

I think the issue seems to come under the 
balancing of probative evidence versus what is unfair 
prejudice. As I understand counsel's argument, there 
is not necessarily an argument that the comparison of 
total spending or reference to these individual 
transactions is unfair prejudice, it's the publishing of 
the transactions in their entirety to the jury that 
counsel is concerned about with regard to how the 
jury may view those transactions. 

I don't see a significant difference between 
testimony coming in through the witness and 
documents coming in to support that testimony. 

Unfair prejudice is prejudice that outweighs any 
of the probative value of the evidence. And I just 
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don't see the danger that outweighs the probative 
value. 

There are numerous transactions that occurred 
here. To expect the jury to remember every 
transaction that is testified from the stand, I think is 
unreasonable. 

The transactions we have already determined, 
are relevant. The transactions that we already 
determined are transactions that the jury should hear. 
To expect the jury to remember every transaction 
when we are talking about 5000 different transactions, 
is simply unreasonable. And to assume that a juror 
doesn't have the ability to view the evidence and 
consider it in the same light as when they hear the 
evidence, doesn't rise to unfair prejudice. 

The jury is entitled to hear the evidence. 
Whether they hear it on the stand or see it before their 
eyes, doesn't constitute unfair prejudice. 

5RP 559-61. 

The court invited Pierce's counsel to propose a limiting 

instruction for the evidence. 5RP 559. The trial court gave jurors 

the following limiting instruction: 

The State charges allege only those 
transactions that are included in State's Exhibit #93. 

Other transaction evidence, not included in 
State's Exhibit #93, has been admitted in this case for 
the limited purpose of considering the defendant's 
opportunity, intent, and plan. You may not consider it 
for any other purpose. 
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This evidence consists of other transactions 
that are not part of the State's charges, and are not 
included in State's [E]xhibit #93. Any discussion of 
this evidence during your deliberations must be 
consistent with this limitation. 

CP 156. The summaries were presented in the form of Exhibit 94 

during the testimony of financial analyst Tyrell. 12RP 1624-27. 

b. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By 
Admitting Summaries Of Bank Records. 

Evidence Rule 403 states: 

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its 
probative value is substantially outweighed by the 
danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 
misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue 
delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of 
cumulative evidence. 

Exclusion of evidence under ER 403 is considered an extraordinary 

remedy, and the burden is on the party seeking to exclude the 

evidence to show that the probative value is substantially 

outweighed by the undesirable characteristics. Carson v. Fine, 123 

Wn.2d 206,867 P.2d 610 (1994). Under ER 403, there is a 

presumption favoring the admissibility of evidence. & at 225. 

Because of the trial court's considerable discretion in administering 

ER 403, reversible error is found only in the exceptional 
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circumstance of a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Gatalski, 

40 Wn. App. 601,610,699 P.2d 804, review denied, 104 Wn.2d 

1019 (1985). 

In determining prejudice under ER 403, the linchpin word is 

"unfair." State v. Rice, 48 Wn. App. 7,13,737 P.2d 726 (1987). 

Evidence may be unfairly prejudicial if it "appeals to the jury's 

sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, provokes its instinct to 

punish, or triggers other mainsprings of human action." Carson, 

123 Wn.2d at 223. The likelihood of unfair prejudice substantially 

outweighing the probative force of evidence is "quite slim" where 

the evidence is undeniably probative of a central issue in the case. 

!fL at 224. ER 403 does not provide a basis for objecting simply 

because the evidence is "too good" or "too powerful." State v. 

Gould, 58 Wn. App. 175,791 P.2d 569 (1990). 

Here, sound reasons supported the trial court's decision to 

admit the bank record summaries. The records were highly 

probative of issues central to the case. The summaries provided 

context for the charged transactions and showed Pierce's 

opportunity, intent, and scheme to gain control of G.John's 

finances. 5RP 543. Notably, the summaries showed a dramatic 

increase in spending during the third time period, when Pierce had 
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control of G. John's finances. 5RP 544-47. The summaries had 

even greater probative value due to Pierce's claim that G. John had 

consented to the charged transactions. 18RP 2514-16. 

The court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that the 

danger of any possible prejudice to Pierce through the admission of 

the summaries was low. Summaries of bank records like those 

admitted in Exhibit 94 are not the type of evidence that is likely to 

"trigger a mainspring of human action" by appealing to the jury's 

sympathies, arousing a sense of horror, or provoking an instinct to 

punish. Moreover, the court noted that much of the information 

contained in the summary was from a time period before Pierce's 

employment and, thus, the spending for that period was not done 

by Pierce. 5RP 544-45. 

Pierce claims that admission of the summaries was unduly 

prejudicial because the summaries were overwhelming, cumulative, 

and likely to confuse and mislead jurors. To the contrary, the court 

found that admission of the bank summaries would aid the jurors in 

understanding the evidence. 5RP 559-61 . As the court noted, 

without the summaries, the jurors would need to keep track of every 

transaction discussed on the stand. 5RP 560. The summaries 

allowed the jurors to see overarching patterns in spending during 
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the three time periods in an efficient manner while still allowing 

Pierce an opportunity to probe how the summaries were compiled 

and to challenge the information on cross examination. 

Additionally, Pierce never claimed that the summaries were in any 

manner inaccurate. 

Given the voluminous nature of the bank records, which 

were estimated at over 5000 records, some cumulative testimony 

may have been helpful to the jury to understand the evidence. 

3RP 394; see Christensen v. Munsen, 123 Wn.2d 234, 867 P.2d 

626 (1994) (finding no abuse of discretion in allowing cumulative 

testimony where the trial court may have deemed some cumulative 

testimony helpful to the jury's understanding of the issues). As the 

court noted, even with the summaries, the information would be 

voluminous for a jury. 3RP 394. 

Any potential prejudice was cured by the limiting instruction. 

Pierce was given an opportunity to draft a limiting instruction, and 

the court instructed jurors that they were to consider the evidence 

of non-charged transactions only for a limited purpose. CP 156. 

The trial court properly found that the evidence 

encompassed by the summaries was highly probative and that any 
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potential for prejudice was minimal. The trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in admitting the summaries. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 
DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE DEPOSITION 
OF G. JOHN DOCES. 

Pierce argues that G. John lacked personal knowledge to 

testify, and thus the court erred in admitting G. John's deposition. 

This argument should be rejected . The court did not abuse its 

discretion in finding that G. John had personal knowledge of events 

where G. John "clearly" recalled several events but indicated he 

was unable to remember others. Moreover, G. John's testimony 

and the testimony of others supported the court's finding that 

G. John had personal knowledge of the events in question. 

a. Relevant Facts. 

At the time of trial, G. John was 96 years old. 7RP 895. 

After he had testified during a pretrial hearing, the court found that 

G. John was not competent to testify at trial. 2RP 207. In October 

of 2011, two years before trial, the parties had taken a videotaped 

preservation deposition of G. John. Ex. 109. Pierce and her 

counsel were present for the deposition, and G. John was cross 
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examined by Pierce's counsel for approximately half of the 

deposition. Ex. 109 at 1, 28. At trial, Pierce objected to the 

admission of the entire deposition on the basis that G. John was 

not competent at the time of the deposition and that he lacked 

personal knowledge of the events that he testified to in the 

deposition. 4RP 472. 

After reviewing the videotape and transcript of the 

deposition, the court found that G. John was competent at the time 

of the deposition and that he had personal knowledge of the 

events. 2RP 208; 4RP 469,472. The court found that it "was 

certainly clear" that G. John was "much more lucid" in the 

deposition than he was during pretrial testimony. 4RP 467-68. The 

court noted that although G. John had some inconsistencies with 

his recollection in the deposition, it was "clear that Mr. Doces has a 

recollection ." 4RP 469. The court observed that G. John did not 

recall many of the transactions on his bank account and that 

G. John indicated that he had "never gone there to see, buy, or 

exchange anything." 4RP 468. The court highlighted that in the 

deposition, G. John could identify Pierce, knew that she worked for 

him, and indicated that her duties included taking care of him, 
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transporting him to doctors, assisting with his medications, and 

preparing his meals. 4RP 467-68. 

b. The Court Did Not Err In Admitting G. John's 
Deposition Where There Was Sufficient 
Evidence Of Personal Knowledge. 

In relevant part, ER 602 states: 

A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence 
is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the 
witness has personal knowledge of the matter. 
Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need 
not, consist of the witness' own testimony. 

ER 602 requires that a witness who testifies to a fact that can be 

perceived by the senses must have actually observed the fact. 

50 Tegland, Wash. Prac., Handbook on Wash. Evid., § 602.1 

(2013-14 ed .). Stated negatively, the rule bars testimony that is 

based only on the report of others. kL See State v. Garrison, 71 

Wn.2d 312, 427 P.2d 1012 (1976) (court properly prohibited the 

owner of a burglarized tavern, who was not present at the time of 

the burglary, to identify the defendant as the burglar); Yurkovich v. 

Rose, 68 Wn. App. 643, 847 P.2d 925 (1993) (witness was 

prohibited from testifying about the details of a meeting that the 

witness had not attended). 
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To lay a foundation for admission, ER 602 requires only that 

evidence "sufficient to support a finding" of personal knowledge be 

introduced. State v. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d 604, 611, 682 P.2d 878 

(1984). Thus, testimony should be excluded only if, as a matter of 

law, no trier of fact could reasonably find that the witness had 

firsthand knowledge. lfL at 611-12. In determining admissibility, 

the role of the trial judge is limited to determining whether, under 

the circumstances presented, reasonable persons could differ as to 

whether the witness had an opportunity to observe the events in 

question. 5D Tegland, § 602.3. If reasonable minds could differ, 

the testimony should be admitted. lfL The trial court's admission of 

evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Hamlet, 

133 Wn.2d 314, 324, 944 P.2d 1026 (1997). 

ER 602 does not limit evidence simply because a witness 

cannot remember certain details. See Henderson v. Tyrell, 80 

Wn. App. 592, 910 P.2d 522 (1996). In Henderson, a witness' 

testimony was properly admitted where the witness had personal 

knowledge of the events testified to although the witness could not 

remember some details and, thus, would not swear to them. lfL at 
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614-17. The Court of Appeals found that when the witness 

expressed that he was unsure about various details, the uncertainty 

was "the kind of statement we might expect from a truthful witness 

who wants to be careful to tell the whole truth and nothing but the 

truth." kL. at 617. 

Here, sufficient evidence supported the trial court's finding 

that G. John had personal knowledge of his deposition testimony. 

G. John's own testimony demonstrated that he was present for the 

events that he testified about and that his answers were the result 

of his first-hand impressions. G. John testified about his personal 

history and family history. Ex. 109 at 5-8. Importantly, G. John was 

able to identify Pierce and describe work that she did as part of his 

employment. Ex. 109 at 9,12-13. Moreover, it was undisputed 

that G. John was present for the events that he testified to, such as 

the hiring of Pierce. 7RP 918; 10RP 1396. The court, thus, 

properly found that G. John's testimony during the deposition was 

the product of his first-hand knowledge of events he was present 

for. 
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The court noted that G. John's testimony showed that he 

had a lack of memory of some events; however, the court did not 

find that G. John's inability to recall was a proper basis for 

exclusion. See Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15,22,106 S. Ct. 

292, 88 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1985) (finding that a witness' inability to recall 

did not deny a defendant his right to confrontation because "there is 

no guarantee that every witness called by the prosecution will 

refrain from giving testimony that is marred by forgetfulness, 

confusion, or evasion"). 

Pierce's argument, that G. John's answers showed that he 

lacked personal knowledge, is incorrect. In many instances, 

G. John's response that he did not know or could not recall likely 

reflected the memory loss that family members had been observing

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